
 
 

 

 
 

 

COMMONS AND RIGHTS OCOMMONS AND RIGHTS OCOMMONS AND RIGHTS OCOMMONS AND RIGHTS OF WAY F WAY F WAY F WAY 

COMMITTEECOMMITTEECOMMITTEECOMMITTEE    

    

10.00 am10.00 am10.00 am10.00 am    

 

TUESDAYTUESDAYTUESDAYTUESDAY    

26 NOVEMBER 201326 NOVEMBER 201326 NOVEMBER 201326 NOVEMBER 2013 

 

 

Council Chamber Council Chamber Council Chamber Council Chamber ----    Shire Hall, Shire Hall, Shire Hall, Shire Hall, 

GloucesterGloucesterGloucesterGloucester 

 

 

 

MEETING PAPERS 

 
 



 
 



 
 

 

 
Published Date Not Specified 
 

 

COMMONS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 
 

TIME: 10.00 am 

DATE: Tuesday 26th November, 2013 

VENUE: Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester 

 
A G E N D A 

 
ITEM TOPIC CONTACT 
1. Minutes (Pages 1 - 4)  
 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 

8 November 2013. 
 

Jane Cleaver 
Tel: 01452 
425096 

2. Public Questions   
 To answer any written or public questions about the application 

before the Committee at this meeting.  The closing date /time for 
the receipt of questions  
is 10 am on 19 November 2013. 
 
With the consent of the Chairperson, to answer any oral 
question(s) on the application before the Committee at this 
meeting put by members of the public. 
 
Depending on the nature of the oral questions asked it may not be 
possible to provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in 
which case a written answer will be supplied as soon as 
reasonably possible after the meeting. 
 

Jane Cleaver 
Tel: 01452 
425096 

3. Members' Questions -   
 To answer any written members’ questions on the application 

before Committee at the meeting. The closing date/time for the 
receipt of questions is 10am on 19 November 2013. 
 

Jane Cleaver 
Tel: 01452 
425096 

4. Application for the registration of an area of land known as 
the Recreation Ground, Prestbury Road, as a town or village 
green (Pages 5 - 70) 

 

 To consider the following application 
 
Nature of application:  Application for the registration of an area of 
land known as the Recreation Ground, Prestbury Road, as a town 
or village green. 
 

Janet Smith 
Tel: 01452 
425095 



 
Published Date Not Specified 
 

Location:  Land to the north of Prestbury Road, Cheltenham and 
to the west of Prestbury Recreation Ground. 
 
 

5. Public Questions   
 To answer any written or public questions about matters, which 

are within the powers and duties of the Committee.  The closing 
date /time for the receipt of questions is 10 am on 19 November 
2013. 
 
With the consent of the Chairperson, to answer any oral 
question(s) on matters, which are within the powers and duties of 
the Committee.  
 
Depending on the nature of the oral questions asked it may not be 
possible to provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in 
which case a written answer will be supplied as soon as 
reasonably possible after the meeting. 
 
 

Jane Cleaver 
Tel: 01452 
425096 
 

6. Members Questions   
 To answer any written questions from members about matters, 

which are within the powers and duties of the Committee.  The 
closing date /time for the receipt of questions is 10 am on 19 
November 2013. 
 
 

Jane Cleaver 
Tel: 01452 
425096 

 

NOTES 

(a) MEMBERSHIP –Cllr John Cordwell, Cllr Tony Hicks, Cllr Richard Leppington, 
Cllr Paul McMahon, Cllr Nigel Moor, Cllr David Prince, Cllr Lynden Stowe, 
Cllr Robert Vines and Cllr Simon Wheeler 
 
 

(b) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Jane Burns �01452 328472 /fax: 425149/e-mail: 
jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the meeting.  
 
 

(c) Will Members please sign the attendance list. 
 
 

(d) Please note substitution arrangements are in place as detailed in the 
Constitution. 
 



 
Published Date Not Specified 
 

(e) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect 
reports relating to any item on this Agenda or have any other general queries 
about the meeting, please contact  the Democratic Services Unit on 01452-
425096 
 

 

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the 
meeting please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the 
assembly point which is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  
Please remain there and await further instructions. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

- 1 - 

COMMONS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES of a meeting of the Commons and Rights of Way Committee held on Friday 8th 
November, 2013 at the Meeting Room 1&2 - Shire Hall, Gloucester. 

 
 

PRESENT:  

 Cllr John Cordwell 
Cllr Tony Hicks 
Cllr Richard Leppington 
Cllr Paul McMahon 
 

Cllr Nigel Moor (Chairman) 
Cllr Lynden Stowe 
Cllr Robert Vines 
Cllr Simon Wheeler 
 

Substitutes:   
 

Apologies: Cllr David Prince 

 
1. ELECTION OF CHAIRPERSON  

 
Cllr Moor was proposed, seconded and the Committee 
 
Resolved 
 
That Cllr Moor be elected Chairperson for the ensuing year.  
 

2. MINUTES -  
 
Resolved 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 12 October 2011 be approved as a correct 
record. 
 

3. PUBLIC QUESTIONS -  
 
The Committee noted that 5 written public questions and one advance oral question 
had been received.  The responses to these questions had been published on the 
website and circulated to the Committee on the morning of Thursday, 7 November 
2013.   
 
However, as the questioner had been unable to access the responses until 
collecting a copy of the document at the start of the Committee meeting, the 
Chairman agreed to take this item at the end of the meeting. 
 

4. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS -  
 
No questions had been received from Councillors. 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 1

Page 1



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting 
 

 

- 2 - 
 

5. CURRENT STATUS OF MODIFICATION ORDERS AND APPLICATIONS  
 
Mr Andrew Houldey, Asset Data Officer (PROW Definitive Map), drew the 
Committee’s attention to his report which had been published on Monday, 4 
November, and invited questions. 
 
In response to questions, Mr Houldey explained that although the backlog of 
applications had remained relatively stable around the figure of 118, there had been 
a drop in the number of designated High Priority applications from 13 in May 2010 
to 7 as at the end of October 2013. 
 
He confirmed that as resources for this area of the Authority’s responsibility were 
limited, work had been focused on those applications at the post-committee stage 
designated as high priority.  This was why it had not been necessary to have any 
Committee meetings since 2011.  The balance of high priority work had now 
changed and it was anticipated that the Committee would have a need to meet on a 
more frequent basis.   
 
Members expressed some disappointment that this area of work could not be 
accorded a higher priority overall, but acknowledged that Gloucestershire was not 
alone in this situation with all neighbouring counties have similar levels of backlog, 
and asked that information on this area be issued on a regular basis. 
 
Resolved  
 
That the report be noted. 
 

6. PUBLIC QUESTIONS  
 
The following supplementary questions were asked by Mr Rice to the Chairperson: 
 
Question A – The six monthly updates have not been provided – why has no 
action been taken? 
 
Response – This is a matter relating to the resources provided for the area of work 
and therefore a written answer will be provided by the relevant Cabinet Member. 
 
Question B – The Authority should have a compliant register and Definitive Map.  I 
identified this issue two and half years ago but no action has been taken.  I now find 
that the hard copy of the Definitive map is also defective – will you now insist that 
this is corrected? 
 
Response – I will arrange for a written response to be given on this matter. 
 
Question C – I do not agree that this is a resource issue.  I would like to know what 
this Committee has achieved in the last 5 years? 
 
Response – The report relating to agenda item 6 gives details.  A written response 
will be provided. 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting 
 

 

- 3 - 
 

 
Question D – I need to look into this matter in more detail – how can I get an 
answer? 
 
Response – information can be provided in written form or there is an opportunity 
to ask questions at each Committee meeting. 
 
Question E – I don’t feel that the answer given is very clear – can the reasons 
given be justified? 
 
Response – A written response will be provided. 
 
At the discretion of the Chairperson, no further questions were invited from the 
public and, there being no further business, the meeting was closed. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 
 
Meeting concluded at 14:32 

 
 

Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



$a3v1tcm5.doc 1

COMMONS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 
 

AGENDA ITEM: 
APPLICATION FOR THE REGISTRATION OF AN AREA OF LAND KNOWN AS 
THE RECREATION GROUND PRESTBURY ROAD AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE 

GREEN 
 

Commons Act 2006 
 

Report of the Head of Legal Services 
 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
 To consider the following application; 
 

Nature of application:  Application for the registration of an area of land known 
as the Recreation Ground, Prestbury Road, as a town or village green. 
 
Location:  Land to the north of Prestbury Road, Cheltenham and to the west 
of Prestbury Recreation Ground. 
 
Name of Applicant:  The Prestbury Green Working Group. 
 
Date of Application:  Handed to Gloucestershire County Council on 
20 September 2010 (undated). 
Application returned duty dated:  2 November 2010. 

 
2. Recommendation 
 
 That the application dated 2 November 2010 made by the Prestbury Green 

Working Group for the registration of an area of land known as the Recreation 

Ground, Prestbury, Cheltenham (and which is shown edged in pink on the 

map attached hereto and numbered      A) as a town or village green 

pursuant to Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 should be refused for the 

reasons set out in the inspector’s report attached hereto and numbered 

     B. 

 
 
3. Statutory Authority 
 
 Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 provides for the amendment of the 

register of town or village greens maintained by the County Council as 

Registration Authority where “any land becomes ... a town or village green”.  

Any person may make an application to the authority for the amendment of 

Agenda Item 4

Page 5



$a3v1tcm5.doc 2

the register provided that the criteria set out in Section 15 of the Act for the 

establishment of a town or village green is met.  The County Council is 

obliged to consider any such application, duly made, in accordance with the 

relevant regulations and to register any land should that statutory criteria be 

met. 

 
4. Departmental Contact 
 
 Janet Smith, Senior Lawyer (Highways), Legal Services. 
 Telephone:  Gloucester (01452) 425095. 
 Email:  janet.smith@gloucestershire.gov.uk. 
 
5. Report 
 

5.1 Description 
 
 The area of land, the subject of this application, is known as the 

Recreation Ground, Prestbury Road.  Its southern boundary runs 

along the northern edge of Prestbury Road behind a dwelling and the 

Day Care Centre.  It then continues behind properties fronting 

Prestbury Road before turning north, then west, then north again 

around Welland Court and properties on Welland Lodge Road on the 

Cleevemount estate.  Its northern boundary runs alongside Rushy 

Brook until it meets New Barn Close.  The eastern boundary of the 

application site marks the boundary with the Prestbury Parish Playing 

Fields.  The site comprises approximately 11 acres. Photographs 

showing the application site will be available for inspection on the 

date of the committee meeting. 

 
5.2 General 
 
5.2(a) The Commons Act 2006 changed the criteria for registration of a new 

green which was established by the previous Commons Registration 

Act 1965 (now repealed).  Section 15 of the Act permits applications 

based on claimed use for 20 years or more to be considered and if 

appropriate, for the land to be included in the register thus protecting 

its status for the future.  The procedure which has to be followed is 

set out in the relevant regulations which are ‘The Commons 

Page 6



$a3v1tcm5.doc 3

(Registration of Town or Village Green) (Interim Arrangements) 

(England) Regulations 2007’. 

 
5.2(b) Members will be aware that there is a difference between common 

land and town or village greens.  Common land is land over which 

another person is entitled to exercise rights of common or land which 

was historically considered to be waste to the manor and not subject 

to such rights.  Common rights are legal rights exercisable only by 

certain individuals (the commoners) who live in certain properties or 

in a certain area and these rights might include the rights to graze 

animals, take peat, wood or fish.  Town/village greens, on the other 

hand, are usually areas of land within defined settlements or 

geographical areas which are used for sports or pastimes.  Unlike 

common land there is no general right of public access over village 

greens which are instead reserved for use by the inhabitants of the 

neighbourhood or locality.  A village green may be privately owned 

although in practice many greens are owned by the local parish 

council.  In respect of this application, the applicant has applied to 

register the land in question, the Recreation Ground Prestbury Road, 

under Sections 15(1) and (2) of the Commons Act 2006 on the basis 

that a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality. or any 

neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful 

sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years and 

they continued to do so at the time of the application.   

 
5.3 Application and Background 
 
5.3(a) In the application dated 2 November 2010 (made on the requisite 

Form 44) the Prestbury Green Working Group requested the 

Commons Registration Authority of Gloucestershire County Council 

to register the land in question as a town or village green on the basis 

that the inhabitants of the locality (or neighbourhood within the 

locality) had indulged in lawful sports and pastimes as of right for not 

less than 20 years on the land up until the date of the application. 

 

Page 7



$a3v1tcm5.doc 4

5.3(b) The basis for the application is that the local community (which, at the 

time of the application comprised the Cheltenham Borough Council 

wards of Prestbury, Oakley and Pittville) used the recreation ground 

for a variety of recreational uses, undeterred for over 20 years.  The 

application was supported by statements of evidence from over 40 

local residents.   

 
5.3(c) Although the application and supporting evidence was handed to the 

Council on 20 September 2010, there were some issues with the 

application which had to be addressed before it could be processed.  

This included the fact that the application was undated and it was 

returned duly dated on 2 November 2010.   

 
5.3(d) At that time, the County Council as Registration Authority had a 

priority system to determine which applications could be processed 

based on a number of factors.  On 22 November 2012 the Council 

were informed that Cheltenham Borough Council had granted outline 

planning consent for the development of land at Starvehall Farm, 

New Barn Lane, Cheltenham and which included the site of the 

claimed town or village green.  The development included housing 

and apartments, a nursing care facility, public open space and a new 

link road.  The site is owned by Gloucestershire County Council and 

this site is identified as a proposed capital receipt for 2013/14.  Both 

the Applicants and the County Council were therefore anxious to 

proceed with the advertising and determination of the application as 

soon as possible.  A Chinese wall agreement was drawn up to ensure 

clear boundaries between officers representing the Commons 

Registration Authority and those representing the County Council. 

 
5.3(e) The application was duly advertised on 31 January 2013 in 

accordance with the relevant regulations.  Representations or 

objections were requested by 18 March 2013.  An objection was 

made by the County Council as landowner on 15 March 2013 and the 

applicant was invited to comment on 20 March 2013.  There were 

Page 8



$a3v1tcm5.doc 5

various exchanges of correspondence from both parties culminating 

in a decision to hold a non-statutory public inquiry. 

 
5.3(f) On 7 May 2013 counsel was instructed to: chair the inquiry as an 

Inspector, to give procedural directions to the parties and, in due 

course, prepare a report making a recommendation to the County 

Council (the Commons and Rights of Way Committee) about whether 

to accept or refuse the application.  A pre-inquiry meeting was held 

on 7 June 2013 followed by the public inquiry at Cheltenham Borough 

Council offices commencing on Monday 9 September 2013. 

 
6. Legal Comments 
 

6.1 In complying with the procedural requirements  it is the County 

Council’s duty as Registration Authority to consider the application, 

any objections received and dispose of the application by acceptance 

or rejection.  To do this the committee must consider the statutory 

criteria contained in Section 15(2) of the 2006 Act.  This is applicable 

where the claimed use continues at the time of the application.  It 

arises where a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or 

any neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in 

lawful sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 

years and they continue to do so at the time of the application.   

 
6.2 A significant number  
 
 This term has not been defined but in R v Staffordshire County 

Council ex parte Alfred McAlpine Homes Limited (2002) Sullivan J 

said that “significant” did not mean a considerable or a substantial 

number.  He said that the correct answer is that what matters “is that 

the number of people using the said land in question has to be 

sufficient to indicate that their use of the land signifies that it is in 

general use by the community for informal recreation, rather than 

occasional use by individuals as trespassers”.  It is then very much a 

matter of impression whether user is by a significant number of the 

inhabitants of any locality or of any neighbourhood within a locality.  

Page 9



$a3v1tcm5.doc 6

If, for instance, the neighbourhood is a small one then only a handful 

of users may suffice provided they can give evidence of their own 

user and that observed by them in the case of others for the whole of 

the 20 year period. 

 
6.3 The inhabitants of any locality or of any neighbourhood within a 

locality 
 
 The origins of this definition lay in the fact that it has long been the 

common law that a customary right to indulge in sports and pastimes 

could only exist for the benefit of some legally recognised 

administrative division of the County.  In the Ministry of Defence v 

Wiltshire County Council case determined in1995, Harman LJ held 

that a locality had to be in an administrative area known to the law 

such as a parish or village.    

 
6.4 What then constitutes a neighbourhood within a locality? 
 
 In Cheltenham Builders Limited v South Gloucestershire District 

Council in 2003, Sullivan J stated that whereas the term ‘locality’ in 

the context of a town or village green meant a legally recognised 

administrative unit, a neighbourhood need not be such a unit and 

might include for example a housing estate.  The Registration 

Authority has to be satisfied that the area alleged to be a 

neighbourhood has a sufficient degree of cohesiveness in order to 

satisfy the test. 

 

6.5 In this case, the applicant had originally claimed various wards as the 

‘locality’ however, the locality element was subsequently amended 

(and agreed by the parties) to the ecclesiastical parish of Prestbury. 

The applicants have not relied on the ‘neighbourhood’ element. 

 
6.6 Lawful sports and pastimes 
 
 The type of activity which historically was accepted had to be 

something more than a mere wandering as it is “lawful sports and 

pastimes” required to satisfy the test and not “exercise and 

Page 10



$a3v1tcm5.doc 7

recreation”.  The types of activity historically included: dancing round 

the maypole and otherwise enjoying recreation, organised racing, 

dancing, horse riding, playing cricket, practising archery and playing 

similar village sports games and pastimes.  As for the types of activity 

that now constitute sports and pastimes, the House of Lords in the 

“Sunningwell case” rejected the argument that these need to be 

communal or to include formal sports or organised events in order to 

justify registration.  Informal modern activities such as dog walking 

and playing with children are as relevant for this purpose as 

traditional ones such as maypole dancing.  So long as there is 

evidence of the clear pattern of recreational use, principally by local 

inhabitants, it does not matter what types of lawful sports and 

pastimes are indulged in.  “Sports and pastimes” is not two classes of 

activity but a simple composite class which uses two words in order 

to avoid arguments over whether an activity is a sport or pastime.  

There is no requirement that these must be organised sports however 

it is important that the user brings to the mind of the landowner that a 

right of recreation is being exercised.  Thus a walk via a defined track 

may be more consistent with the exercise of a right of way which 

would not provide evidence of a general recreational right.   

 
 The concept of lawful sports and pastimes is very wide and the 

activity needs to take place on the land itself so, for instance, bird 

watching from an adjoining garden would not qualify.  Taken together, 

and depending upon their inherent nature, the lawful sports and 

pastimes must have been exercised continually, albeit perhaps 

seasonally, during the period specified in the application.  

 
6.7 The term “as of right” 
 
 For the establishment of a successful town or village green 

application the claimant must show that he has used land not by 

force, stealth or with permission of the landowner nor ‘by right’.  In the 

Sunningwell case, the House of Lords held that those using the land 

as of right do not need an “honest belief” in their right to enjoy lawful 

Page 11



$a3v1tcm5.doc 8

sports and pastimes on the land.  The question is how the use would 

have appeared to the owner of the land.  It means the use relied on 

has to be open and in a manner in which a person rightfully entitled 

would have used the land.     

 
7. Inspector’s Report and Recommendation 
 

7.1 The recommendation to Members in this particular case is based on 

the inspector’s report (the inspector being a leading counsel highly 

qualified in this area of law) which is attached in its entirety and 

numbered      B. 

 

7.2 In his report, the Inspector considers in details all the evidence 

submitted, the case law and relevant legal tests. Members attention is 

drawn to paragraph 85 in which he makes it clear that it is for the 

applicant to prove “each and every element of the statutory test” and 

if he fails, then so does the application. 

 

7.3 The Inspector advises the commons registration authority in 

paragraph 119 that the application should be rejected. It is therefore 

recommended that for the reasons set out in the Inspectors report  

the application to register The Recreation Ground, Prestbury Road, 

should be refused. 

 

8. Background Papers 

 Document      Received from 

Application and supporting evidence Prestbury Green 

Working Group 

Inspectors report Mr L Blohm Counsel 

Background files and all correspondence 

 
 

Page 12



Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

IN RE: LAND TO THE NORTH OF PRESTBURY ROAD, CHELTENHAM, TO THE EAST 

OF PRESTBURY PARISH RECREATION GROUND (STARVEHALL FARM) AS A TOWN 

OR VILLAGE GREEN UNDER SECTION 15 COMMONS ACT 2006. 

 

AND IN RE APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN NO. 

46778 

 

 

ADVICE 

 

Introduction 

1. On 2nd. November 2010 the applicants, Mr. Colin Hayes and Ms. Tina Mander, 

applied to Gloucestershire County Council for the registration of land at 

Starvehill Farm, Prestbury, Cheltenham, described in the application form as 

‘Recreation Ground, Prestbury Road’ and located to the North of Prestbury 

Road, Cheltenham and to the East of Prestbury Parish Recreation Ground, as a 

town or village green (‘TVG’) pursuant to section 15 Commons Act 2006.  

 

2. Gloucestershire County Council is the Registration Authority which is under a 

statutory duty to consider whether or not it should accede to such an 

application. When in the course of this advice I refer to Gloucestershire County 

Council acting as Registration Authority, I shall refer to it as ‘the Authority’. 

Page 15



 2 

Gloucestershire County Council is also the freehold owner of the application 

land. When I refer to the Council in its capacity as landowner, I shall refer to it as 

‘the Council’.  

 

3. The Authority advertised the application in a local newspaper and on the Land 

on the 28th. January 2013, and sought objections to the application, if any.  

 

4. An objection dated 15th. March 2013 was subsequently received from the 

Council. That objection asserted that the Authority should not register the Land 

as a TVG because: 

(1) The use relied upon, at least in part, related to use of the character of the 

exercise of a right of way, rather than as lawful sports and pastimes. Such 

usage would not count towards the requirement of 20 years usage under 

section 15 of the Commons Act 2006; 

(2) The locality relied upon, being the three wards in Cheltenham Borough 

Council of Pittville, Prestbury and Oakley was not a locality within the 

meaning of the Act;  

(3) The relevant usage had not been by a ‘significant number of the inhabitants 

of the locality’; 

(4) Use of the Land during the relevant period was not ‘as of right’ because: 

(i) The entrance or entrances to the Land had from time to time during the 

twenty year period been fenced, and there was evidence that access 

Page 16



 3 

had been gained through or over fencing. Such usage was 

contentious, and not ‘as of right’; 

(ii)  In 2003 the Council erected four notices at the various entrances to the 

Land which had the effect of rendering recreational use of the land 

permissive. As such, use thereafter was not ‘as of right’; 

(iii) If it was the case that by reason of the operation of section 15(7)(b) of the 

Commons Act 2006 the applicant could establish the statutory 

requirement by proving 20 years usage as of right before the erection 

of the notices in 2003, as well as permissive use after that date to the 

date of the application (which the Council denied) then as a matter of 

fact such usage from 1983 to 2003 did not take place.  

 

5. The Authority plainly had a potential conflict of interest in dealing with this 

application. It is both required to decide the application, but as landowner and 

objector it has an interest in the application failing. Such a conflict of interest is 

not unusual, and the Courts have approved the practice in such circumstances of 

the Registration Authority asking a suitably qualified and independent person, 

often but not necessarily a barrister, to conduct a non-statutory inquiry for the 

purpose of resolving the application. I have been instructed by the Authority to 

conduct such an inquiry into the present application, and this advice follows 

such an inquiry.  

 

Page 17



 4 

6. I held an inquiry at the Council Chamber, Cheltenham on 9th. to 12th. September 

2013, at which I heard evidence for and against the application and at the 

conclusion of the evidence conducted a view of the Land. At the Inquiry the 

Applicants were represented by Mr. Daniel Stedman Jones of counsel, and the 

Objector by Mr. Vivian Chapman QC. I am grateful to them both for their 

helpful, clear and directed submissions and cross-examination, as I am for the 

witnesses who took the time and trouble to come and give evidence. 

 

The Statutory Requirement 

7. The application is made under section 15(2) of the Commons Act 2006, which 

provides that: 

“15. Registration of greens 

(1)Any person may apply to the commons registration authority to register 

land to which this Part applies as a town or village green in a case where 

subsection (2), (3) or (4) applies. 

(2)This subsection applies where— 

(a)a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 

neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports 

and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; and 

(b)they continue to do so at the time of the application. 

.......” 

Because it has attained particular significance in this application, I shall also set 

out section 15(7) of the Act: 

 

Page 18



 5 

“(7)For the purposes of subsection (2)(b) in a case where the condition in 

subsection (2)(a) is satisfied— 

(a)where persons indulge as of right in lawful sports and pastimes 

immediately before access to the land is prohibited as specified in 

subsection (6), those persons are to be regarded as continuing so to 

indulge; and 

(b)where permission is granted in respect of use of the land for the purposes 

of lawful sports and pastimes, the permission is to be disregarded in 

determining whether persons continue to indulge in lawful sports and 

pastimes on the land “as of right”.” 

 

8. So, dividing it up into its constituent parts, and putting it in less legal language 

so far as is appropriate, an applicant for registration under section 15(2) must 

show that: 

For the period of twenty years up to the application, the land has been used for 

lawful sports and pastimes: 

(1) That the people so using it during that period have been doing so ‘as of 

right’. That is a term taken from old law as to the acquisition of rights by 

prescription or long usage, and it means ‘not by force, nor by stealth, nor by 

permission’1. As far as ‘force’ is concerned, the Council relies on: 

- A sign prohibiting dog walking, which it asserts was erected in 1982. The 

existence of such a sign is denied by the applicants. If the sign was there, 

then it says that dog walking thereafter would have been contentious, 

and hence ‘by force’; 

                                                 
1
 The traditional formulation is the Latin – ‘nec vi, nec clam, nec precario.’ 

Page 19



 6 

- A sign prohibiting public recreational use in about 1990 at the entrance 

to the Land from Prestbury Road. The existence of such a sign is denied 

by the applicants. Again, it asserts that this signage would have the 

effect of making subsequent use contentious and by force; 

- The fencing of the entrance to the Land from New Barn Avenue 

indicated that public entrance to and hence usage of the Land was 

prohibited. The applicants accept that some fencing was erected, but say 

that a sufficient gap was left to permit public access to the Land. 

(2) The Council relies upon four notices erected at the entrances at the Land in 

2003 to render recreational usage thereafter permissive. Although it was not 

entirely clear at the inquiry whether this was the applicants’ stance, many of 

their witnesses denied the existence and/or the effect of the existence of 

these notices. I shall have to consider when they were erected, how many 

were erected, and their effect. 

(3) If the only reason why the ‘as of right’ test is not satisfied is that use has 

been by permission during the relevant period of twenty years, then the 

Authority must consider whether the applicant can succeed by showing 

twenty years’ usage of the land for recreational purposes prior to the giving 

of permission. If he can, then the Authority has to consider whether the 

applicant has proven such usage.  

(4) That amongst the people so using the Land is a ‘significant number’ of the 

inhabitants of a neighbourhood or locality. As I have noted above, the 

Page 20



 7 

application as originally made asserted that the relevant locality comprised 

the Cheltenham Borough Council wards of Prestbury, Oakley and Pittville, 

and the Council had made objection that this was not a proper legal locality. 

The applicants sought to amend their application so as to provide that the 

relevant locality should be the ecclesiastical parish of Prestbury. There was 

no dispute about this amendment, and it is agreed that the ecclesiastical 

parish of Prestbury is a locality in law. I therefore advise the Authority that it 

should consider whether the statutory test has been made out by reference 

to usage of the Land by the inhabitants of the ecclesiastical parish of 

Prestbury. 

 

9. The Authority’s duty is to consider whether the statutory test is made out, or 

not. If it is, then the Authority must register the Land. If it is not, then the 

application must be refused. Save in one limited respect, the Authority is not 

entitled to have regard to the utility (or otherwise) of any alternative use for the 

Land. It is undoubtedly the case that this application has been prompted or 

encouraged by proposals that development should take place on the Land. 

Whether or not any such development is appropriate is a matter for the planning 

system to consider, and not for this application. The one point of relevance to 

the underlying development is this: it has been suggested that witnesses may 

be tempted, consciously or otherwise, to embellish their evidence by reason of 

the greater evil that they wish to prevent, for the applicants, to maintain land as 

Page 21



 8 

open space (which may be the practical effect of registration as a TVG) and for 

the Objector, to raise capital by virtue of a commercial development (which may 

be the practical effect of a refusal to register). I have noted those suggestions, 

and I have had regard to them when assessing the witness evidence in this case, 

to the extent that I consider it relevant. 

 

The Land 

10. The Land is trapezoidal in shape, and slopes slightly from North down to South. 

Access from Prestbuy Road is via gates (vehicular and pedestrian) but not 

otherwise. To the East is the Parish playing field, separated from it by a hedge. 

There are presently two locations where more or less easy access can be gained 

between the two. To the North a New Barn Lane, some relatively recently 

constructed houses. Along the Northern boundary of the Land, and culverted 

where it meets New Barn Lane, is a ditch. New Barn Lane is separated from the 

land by some Armco crash barrier type fencing, but there is easy access on foot. 

The ditch also runs along the Western boundary, where the Land backs on to 

houses; some houses have doors in their rear garden fences to allow access 

directly to the Land. The Land itself is open, rough grassland. It is about four and 

a half hectares in area. 

 

The Evidence 

Page 22



 9 

11. I now set out the oral evidence that I heard from the witnesses who came to give 

evidence before me at the inquiry. This is not a complete or verbatim account of 

that evidence, but a summary of it sufficient for the Authority to follow my 

reasoning and conclusions. 

 

12. Although I have set out here the oral evidence of the witnesses, I make two 

points about that. First, that I have taken into account evidence given both 

orally, and otherwise. The documentary evidence is not set out at length here 

because it is available in the folders of evidence produced to the inquiry; the oral 

evidence is not. In the course of the oral evidence reference is made to historic 

documents, and I have referred to that material below. The second point is that 

where witnesses have been able to give oral evidence I have had the benefit of 

seeing them give evidence when they are challenged on points of dispute. That 

has enabled me to form a view as to the reliability of their evidence that is not 

possible where witnesses have simply put in documentary statements.  

 

The Applicants’ Evidence 

13. Mr. John Clayton has lived on Prestbury Road, near the Day Centre, since 1984. 

Before that he played team rugby on the rugby pitch. He jogged on the Land 

two to three times a week and after 1991 walked on it. He would gain access to 

the Land by the Day Centre on Prestbury Road and would walk the periphery of 

the field. He would see other people, but the Land was not crowded. Those 

Page 23



 10 

people would be walking dogs, or children playing. He saw no organised sport 

on the land after 1983. Mr. Clayton, as with many other witnesses in the case, 

had made a recent additional statement concerning notices. That statement, in 

Mr. Clayton’s case dated 5th. July 2013, stated: 

“TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN 

ADDENDUM TO WITNESS STATEMENT 

I wish to confirm that to the best of my knowledge and recollection that 

during the period that we used the Prestbury Road Playing Fields for 

Lawful Sports and Pastimes that (sic) we did not see the sign shown 

overleaf at the entrances to the playing field. 

The first signs that we can remember are those that remain in place today 

and that were erected in 2003. (signed)”.  

 

14. The sign referred to was a sign stating the following: 

“Gloucestershire County Council 

No unauthorised use of playing field 

Exercising of dogs strictly forbidden.” 

 

15. In oral evidence however Mr. Clayton told me that had no recollection of any 

notice or any other signs on the land. Mr. Clayton was not aware of any fences 

being vandalised, save on one occasion which he attributed to Gypsies. 

 

16. Cross-examined, Mr. Clayton said he would enter the Land from Prestbury 

Road, which to the best of his knowledge had always been the main entrance. 

He remembered children being there, and assumed they were schoolchildren. 

Page 24



 11 

He did not use the Land during the day, but in the evening and at weekends. He 

denied that in 1988 the only significant use of the Land was as a short cut. There 

was no distinct alteration in the usage of the Land, and in particular the amount 

of dog walking that took place on the land between the 1980s and the present 

day.  

 

17. On being pressed on the presence of signage alleged erected in the early 1990s, 

he denied having seen it; he said that had he seen it he would probably have 

ignored it because he had seen it so long. He did not recall difficulties with 

access from New Barn Avenue in the mid 1990s, or the permissive notices 

erected in 2003. He acknowledged that there were lots of signs on the playing 

field, but had not read them. He did accept that to anyone who read the 

permissive signage it would be obvious that the Council was giving permission 

for recreation to anyone who went on the Land. Mr. Clayton did recall a notice 

at the Prestbury Road entrance which was attached to a pole, or a gate.  

 

18. Ms. Lynne Newman lived in New Barn Avenue from 1968 to 1999, when she and 

her husband moved to New Barn Lane. Although the Parish Recreation Field 

was available for recreation, she and her family felt it was usually marked out for 

organised games. They preferred to go to the Land with their family, which they 

used for various games including football and French cricket. Their children 

moved away in the early 1990s, and the family’s usage of the Land reduced. 

They had two dogs which they exercised off the lead on the Land. Since 1999 

Page 25



 12 

their use of the Land was limited to occasional dog walking. They would enter 

from New Barn Close, and walk around the outside of the Land. Occasionally 

they would go in to the Prestbury playing fields, gaining access by holes in the 

hedges, which were always present. They would recognise people they knew on 

the Land, and socialise with them. 

 

19. The fencing to the entrance to the North was put up possibly just before 1991, 

but it made no difference to access. The walkway was large enough to walk 

through or to wheel a bike. Mrs. Newman did remember seeing the fence 

trampled. The gap was still there as before. 

 

20. Shown photographs of signage, Mrs. Newman said that she had never seen such 

a sign, or indeed any sign. 

 

21. Cross-examined, Mrs. Newman accepted that her primary access to the Land 

was from New Barn Avenue and that she used it as a short cut to go to town; it 

was a popular cut-through. She was aware that schools used it and school 

children used it up to the 1980s, and that a rugby club used it in the winter. 

 

22. Mrs. Newman did not recall any notice prohibiting dog use of the Land in the 

early 1980s at all. She said that had it been there she thought she would have 

seen it and heard about it from other people who walked dogs on the Land. 

Page 26



 13 

Shown the historical aerial photographs, Mrs. Newman accepted that the 1983 

photograph did not show any signs of a dog walking circuit or a short cut, but 

disputed that this was because the Land was not used by a significant number of 

people. She thought that more people would have used it in 1983 than later on 

because fewer people had cars. She thought that dog walkers tended to let their 

dogs off the leash when on the field. Dog walking was a significant usage by the 

local community. Mrs. Newman was aware that there were always dog walkers 

and people walking around the field with a dog. It was difficult to state a 

number, but she thought not less than a dozen at any one time. She thought 

that dog walking had increased over the years, but only because there were now 

more people living in the area. But there was still a lot of dog walking in the 

1980s.  

 

23. Ms. Newman accepted that on the erection of the fence to the New Barn Close 

entrance the entrance was narrowed, but it was still available to the public. 

There was a gap 3-4’ wide so that people could get into the field. She did not 

remember the entrance ever being completely fenced off.  

  

24. Referred to the 2003 notice Mrs. Newman said she could not say she had seen it 

on the odd occasion she had used the field since the notice was erected.  

 

Page 27



 14 

25. Mrs. Suzanne Leggett has lived in Prestbury for most of her life; from 1963 to 

1970 in New Barn Avenue; then at Arle Road, then Chelsea Close, and most 

recently in Apple Close for the past nine years. She was taken to the land as a 

small child; and played games there as a teenager. Her son was born in 1996, 

and would be taken to the land in his buggy. In later years he then went there 

with his friends. Mrs. Leggett would meet up with other parents; and their 

children would play there. Mrs. Leggett would walk around the field, as well as 

cut through it. 

 

26. She had seen other people using the fields, a lot of dog walkers although she 

had never had a dog. One would see at least ten people on a nice summer’s day. 

In the winter there were always people with dogs. 

 

27. Mrs. Leggett was never aware of people trampling down the fence to New Barn 

Close. She was not aware that signs were erected in 2003, and had never taken 

any notice of them.  

 

28. Cross examined, Mrs. Leggett accepted that she did not use the land a great 

deal from 1982 when she had been living over the other part of town. She did 

however use the land a lot with her son from 1992. Recently she had used the 

field two or three times a month. Mrs. Leggett said she would not have noticed 

a sign forbidding dog walking, as she did not have a dog to walk. Shown the 

Page 28



 15 

aerial photographs. She did not wish to comment on the apparent lack of dog 

tracks.  

 

29. Mrs. Daphne Wiltshire has lived at New Barn Lane for the past 10 years;  before 

that she lived at Oakland Avenue for 18 years, and before that had lived at All 

Saints Road. She had used the Land for recreational walking, picnics and play 

for herself and her younger family since 1966. In the 1980s she had entered 

through Prestbury Road. Mrs. Wiltshire had always dog walked on the Land, 

more so from her period living at Oakland Avenue. She had two dogs. Mrs. 

Wiltshire’s son was born in 1964, and he lived in Prestbury Road after he left 

home. Her grandchildren were born from 1980 onwards, and she used to take 

them to the Land. Her first great-grandchild was born in 2004. There had been a 

continuous stream of children visiting. She had seen many other people using 

the field, mainly dog walkers. Sometimes there are eight people walking dogs, 

or with children. She had not seen a change in the use over time. She did not 

recall the 2003 notice. She did not use the entrance at New Barn Lane much, 

and did not recall any fencing. 

 

30. Cross-examined, Mrs. Wiltshire said that she was using the field for dog walking 

in the early 1980s. She could not recall a sign in 1982 forbidding dog walking, or 

the Gloucestershire County Council 1990s sign. She had never seen the 2003 

Page 29



 16 

permissive sign. Taken to her supplemental statement and pressed with its 

terms, she could not say why she had said this.  

 

31. Mr. Tudor Williams lived in Brymore Close from 1959 with his young son, and 

later a daughter. His children used the two fields, the Land and the parish 

playing field adjoining, for recreation. They learned to ride their bikes there, 

played games and made dens in the long grass. They had children and visited a 

lot. He took his grandchildren to the field in the 1980s and 1990s. The boys were 

into cricket in the top field. They liked it when the hay was cut in the other field 

(the field) they could really cut loose. They would be over there with the kids 

from next door during school holidays. His wife is a dog trainer who spent much 

time over there doing dog training there. A lot of people liked to meet her and 

get some advice about their dogs. She walked dogs on a daily basis either on the 

Racecourse or the playing field. They would see plenty of people on the field, 

walking their dogs.  

 

32. Mr. Williams now works at the Day Centre adjoining the Land, and observed 

people using the field for recreation. He walked his dogs on the Land, and met 

others who did the same. Mr. Williams said that he was unaware of any 

restrictions or signs until the Council erected four signs at some of the entrances 

in late 2003, which event he reported in the Prestbury Village Voice column in 

the Gloucestershire Echo.  

Page 30



 17 

 

33. In the early years there was quite a large amount of use; but when the rugby was 

on people would have used the top field. He said that the permissive signs are at 

New Barn Close; two by the Parish playing fields at two separate gaps or 

entrances, that have since been sealed up. The last one was at Prestbury Road 

close to the Prestbury Road entrance, which he thought remained in the same 

place. 

 

34. He accepted that between 1980s and 1990s there was an enormous increase in 

usage of the Land, because it was not used for the rugby and jumping use that 

the Land had previously been used for. 

 

35. Mr. Scott Andrews has lived on Cleevemount Road since 1996. He and his family 

used the Land for recreation with his young children, who were born in 1998 and 

2000. Mr. Andrews used it for marathon training. They gained access through 

the Prestbury Road gated entrance, as well as the New Barns access, sometimes 

as a cut-through but also to train in the field every week, sometimes running 

through, and sometimes doing circuits. The people on the field are largely dog 

walkers or people with children. Mr. Andrews’ bedroom overlooked the fields. 

He told me that he usually hears people before he sees them; there were always 

folk on the field. Out of school time children used the field as well. The older 

children prefer that to the more formal play area in the top field. His family went 

Page 31



 18 

bat watching in the field at twilight. He did not recall any fenced obstruction to 

access on the Land, or any signs. 

 

36. Cross examined as to the predominant use on the Land, Mr. Andrews accepted 

that now it is dog walking. But previously it was both dog walking and people 

walking their children. 

 

37. Mr. Stephen Murton has lived on Prestbury Road since 1979. His children were 

born in 1982 and 1985 and they used the Land from the mid to late 1980s early 

90s. They would enter the Land via the Parish field, through a gap in the hedge. 

Which field they used depended on the level of mowing that had taken place. 

The Land was not always mown. The field became less well kept after rugby 

ceased to be played there. He would see a lot of dog walking. There were always 

people there in varying numbers – but not a huge number. Dog walking has 

become more prevalent.  

 

38. Mr. Murton accepted that over time the grass on the Land had ceased to be as 

well maintained as it had been; but did not accept that this had coincided with 

an increase in the use of the Land by local people. He accepted that dog walking 

was probably the main use of the Land now. Asked about the fencing to New 

Barn Avenue, Mr. Murton thought that it had not been and was not a complete 

obstruction to access. 

Page 32



 19 

 

39. Mrs. Liz Hayes lived on Prestbury Road from 1974 to 1984; from 1984 to 1997 at 

Evesham Rd; and then at Fir Tree Close from 1997. She and her family used the 

Land for recreation from 1974 Mrs. Hayes’ children moved away when they went 

to university. There were other families or children on the Land when she used 

it. Her children would play with her neighbours and their children. A lot of 

neighbours presently use it for walking. She did not recognise the permissive 

signs or their wording. She did not recall the sign referred to in her supplemental 

statement. Shown that statement she said that these were someone else’s 

words and she had signed the document. The Land had always been used by the 

people that lived around it. 

 

40. Tina Mander lives on Welland Lodge Road and had lived in Restbury since 2000. 

Her house has an access directly on to the field. The previous owner had a gate 

throughout her 20 years occupation. Ms. Mander’s children are now ten and 

eleven; she took them across the field to the cricket pavilion on the Parish field. 

She would meet walkers. They would fly kites, run and jog. They would see 

people on the field every morning, dog walkers, a huge amount of people. Ms. 

Mander works at home and her house overlooks the field. She has seen people 

playing the guitar; sitting and chatting; rehearsing for a play; and general 

recreation. She was not aware of the permissive signs, although she admitted 

Page 33



 20 

having seen them recently. She denied that there were no signs by the gaps in 

the hedge leading to the Parish field. 

 

40. Cross examined, Mrs. Mander told me that she had never walked by the 

Prestbury Rd entrance to the Land.  

 

41. Roy Kirby lived in Blacksmiths Lane from 1966, and Fir Tree Close from 1984. He 

had three children born in the late 1960s. He taught them to play Rugby on the 

Land, and would watch the schools play rugby there. When the schools were not 

using the Land, he would show his children how to play the game; this would 

have been in the mid 1980s. When he lived at Blacksmiths Lane he gained 

access to the Land via the Parish field. Latterly he gained access via Fir Tree 

Close. There were other children who played there. On the rugby field there 

were never enough people present to make up a team, but there were lots of 

children wanting to kick the ball around – somewhere between six or ten people.  

There were always people there, running or jogging or dog walking. His five 

grandchildren have all played there. His family used to do hash house harriers 

and practice for marathons; he and his wife practised regularly, until he gave up 

running ten years ago. His wife stopped a while earlier. 

 

42. He could recall a sign that went up in the Prestbury Road area, but it did not stay 

up long. He assumed the council did not think it was right and took it down. He 

Page 34



 21 

did not think it was the 2003 permissive sign; he could not remember what it 

said. He did not think it banned dog walking, as he would have objected to that 

as he had walked a dog there since 1966. It was used more by children in the 

1970s and 1980s; the level of use has always been the same. One could rarely 

walk on the field alone after 5:30. He did not recall a sign erected on the field in 

1992 forbidding dog walking. He accepted that the sign that he saw at Prestbury 

Road was similar to the 2003 permissive sign; he did not recall seeing any 

others, but said he was quite blasé about signage. 

 

43. Stephen Wilson was born in 1968, has lived in the area for many years, and 

presently lives on Prestbury Road. Between 1983 and 1985 access to the Land 

was gained via Prestbury Road. The precise location of the access was changed 

when the day centre was built. He could not remember lots of people using it. It 

is now used for jogging, and dog walking. He could remember the permissive 

signs going up in the last ten years, and would have read them when they went 

up. He could recall four such signs. He did not recall a ‘no dogs’ sign erected in 

1982. 

 

44. Mrs. Tracey Major has lived in Cleevemount Road Prestbury since 1989. She has 

used the field twice daily from 1989. She would walk the dog; and walk the 

children to nursery and to school. Her children were born in 1996 and 1998. They 

have played various games and sports on the Land, such as football, rounders, 

Page 35



 22 

hide and seek and kite flying, but do not do so now. They now use it as a short 

cut. She was aware of the permissive signs, but had not read them Mrs. Major 

did not agree that the predominant use of the Land is now dog walking. 

 

45. Cllr. Colin Hay is a Cheltenham Borough Councillor for the Oakley ward and a 

Gloucestershire County Councillor for Oakley and All Saints. He told me that he 

and his family have used the Land for walking, games and dog walking for more 

than thirty two years. He has lived in York Street, Fairview, since 1985 and gains 

access from the Prestbury Road Day Centre. York Street is not within the 

ecclesiastical parish, and is about half a mile from the Land. Initially there was 

some dog walking on the Land, and the children would play there. More often 

his wife would take his children there. His daughter was born in 1981; he has a 

stepson born in 1978, and a younger daughter in 1985. They would visit a couple 

of times a month with his children. He did not recall any signage forbidding dog 

use. Had such a sign been erected he thought it likely that someone would have 

referred it to him as a councillor. As a County Councillor he knew there was a 

generally perceived problem with dog mess on school playing fields. He did not 

recall a sign erected in the 1990s prohibiting unauthorised use. 

 

46. Mr. Paul Minett told me that he had shown a copy of the blue sign by 

Gloucestershire County Council from the 1990s to 60 residents living around the 

field at the moment. He told me that none of them said they recalled it.  

Page 36



 23 

 

47. Kathy Shaw has lived on Cleevemount Road since 1986. She walked her dogs 

around the field twice a day for thirteen years, and met many others who did the 

same. Her two sons, born in 1991 an 1995, played football on the land, rode 

bicycles and flew kites on the Land. She would enter and leave via the Prestbury 

Road entrance. From 1986 there were lots of people who were using it. The use 

of the Land for rugby did not affect her, although she did not let my dogs go on 

the pitch when games were being played. They used the field a lot. Since 1986 

the character of the use of the land has remained the same – it was popular 

when Mrs. Shaw arrived and it still is. There used to be a lot of older people who 

went there when she walked her dogs. The younger people walked the dogs in 

the morning. She would go with a group of six or so. There would be other 

people and other groups – perhaps ten or twenty. There was a gap in her own 

usage of the Land after 1999 when her dogs died. She took her children on to 

the Land between 1991 and 2003 or 2004. She collected her friends’ children 

from the school between 1992 and1996 or 1997. Dogs were walked off the lead. 

She did not agree that the dog walking that took place in 1986 was much less 

than in more recent years. 

 

48. She did not recognise the permissive signs. She never saw the blue Gloucester 

sign. Mrs. Shaw told me that had she done so she would probably have stopped 

exercising the dogs. Mrs. Shaw had however signed an addendum statement 

that the first signs she could recall were those in place today, erected in 2003.  

Page 37



 24 

 

49. Mr. M. J. Stanton has lived at New Barn Avenue for 13 years. Before that he had 

lived a mile and a half away along Prior’s Road in Alexandra Walk. He would use 

the field two or three times a week, and would take his children there to play. 

His closest open space was a rough piece of land. He used both the field and the 

Parish field for recreation, both for quiet times and for picnics. Mr. Stanton’s 

children were born in the mid 1970s, and he would use the Land with them two 

or three times a week. The Land was at the time being used as school playing 

fields. The school use did not affect him at all. The Land was also being used by 

dog walkers, for people walking generally, and by his neighbours with their 

children.  

 

50. Mr. Stanton accepted that use of the Land has increased in recent years. But in 

earlier years one would still see a good variety of people, perhaps fifteen to 

twenty people dog walking, on the Land. 

 

51. He was aware of the two permissive signs, having seen them erected ten years 

ago. They were put up by Craig the Parish Council groundsman. He was certain 

that he had never seen one at the Prestbury Road entrance. He accepted that in 

the nineteen eighties the route from Prestbury to New Barn Avenue was used as 

a cut-through. There was a worn groove where people walked between the two 

when it was the rugby club using it. He did not recall that worn path when the 

school was using the Land. He thought it had always been used as a short cut. 

Page 38



 25 

 

52. Mrs. Frances Wilson has lived on Prestbury Road since 1967. Her two children 

were born in the late nineteen sixties, and they used the Land for recreation 

from about 1973. She used the field as a short cut to get away from the traffic as 

many did. Her children would have used the field in the nineteen eighties. When 

she went through it she would see other people walking their dogs, kicking 

footballs, riding their bicycles. When Mrs. Wilson visited in the mid morning or 

afternoon, there would be eight or ten people around. It was a school playing 

field in the nineteen eighties, and she would not have cut through when children 

were playing games. Like everyone else when the rugby field was in use she 

would have walked by the hedge. She accepted that she must have seen the 

permissive signs when erected, but did not pay much attention to the signs. 

Mrs. Wilson agreed that public usage increased in the nineteen eighties and the 

nineteen nineties. There were initially sheds at the back of New Barn Lane. 

When the sheds disappeared many more people seemed to use the Land. There 

had always been people on the Land with dogs, but the numbers had increased 

over time.  

 

53. Mr. Brian Bullingham and his wife have lived in Prestbury Road for thirty years. It 

was his view that since the school use of the Land had ceased, the Land had 

been used as a vital green area for the local community. By that he meant that 

all other uses ceased in 2000, not that public recreation only commenced then. 

Page 39



 26 

He and his family had played games on the land, walked his dog, practiced their 

golf there and gone jogging on the Land, gaining access via his rear garden. His 

children were born in the early to mid nineteen sixties. From 1984 he would walk 

around the Land with his mother. Lots of children used to use the field; school 

use did not affect the use by the community. He did not think that the amount 

of dog walking increased after the nineteen eighties and nineteen nineties. He 

did not recall a problem with dog mess on the Land. He remembered the 

erection of the permissive signs. He thought there might have been one by the 

Prestbury Road entrance.  He did not recall the blue Gloucestershire County 

Council sign. 

 

54. Cllr. Les Godwin has been the Borough Councillor for Prestbury since 1978. 

Discussions with County Council officers regarding the development have been 

on-going since 1985 when officers invited him to a meeting to discuss their 

aspirations in respect of Starvehall Farm (and not the Land). Until the 1980s 

Cheltenham Colts played there, and All Saints’ School also used it. Between 

1983 and 1991 the Land was used by children and mothers when it was not in 

school use. Cllr Godwin recalled one occasion in which a local scout master was 

teaching his cubs how to bowl and bat on the Land. He said it was more 

convenient for them to be on the field rather than the Parish field. He has seen 

people picnicking there. He was asked by local residents to get the grass on the 

Land cut; the residents were concerned that the long grass was making their use 

Page 40



 27 

of the Land difficult. He made two representations to the County Council, and 

they cut it. That indicated to him that the Council accepted a responsibility and 

acknowledgment of the public use. 

 

55. In 2001 there was a discussion in respect of the development of Starvehall Farm, 

the County Council wanting to develop the Land and farm. The locals objected 

on the footing that the Land was used by local families.  

 

The Council’s Evidence 

56. Richard Pitts is a Valuer employed by the Council. He gave evidence as to the 

Council’s ownership of the Land. Until the mid 1980s the Land was used as a 

school playing field. He produced a minute of the Governors of Oakley 

Secondary School dated 22nd.June 1982 which stated that: 

“2. Matters Arising 

..... 

(c) Prestbury Road Playing Field Difficulties were still being caused 

by people exercising their dogs in the field. A notice prohibiting this 

had been erected but was subsequently demolished. It was 

suggested that the provision of gates would improve the position 

and Councillor Lawrie agreed to take this up with the Authority. It 

was also suggested that the Dog Warden could be asked to catch 

any stray dogs.” 

 

Page 41



 28 

57. The use by Oakley School stopped in 1985; the Land was used by Pittville 

Secondary School until 1989. The Council then licensed use of the rugby pitch 

on the land from 1987 to 2000. The Council maintained the Land over that 

period, but on a reduced basis from 1992.  

 

58. Mr. Pitts produced an extract from the Gloucestershire Echo of the 29th. May 

1994, which quoted a Dr. Dagmar Ebster-Grosz saying that: 

“We used to have two entrances into the playing fields from this side of 

Prestbury, but one of them has been fenced up. The one that is left is 

very narrow and there is a little wall over the brook that people have to 

balance across.” A spokesman for the County Council is recorded as 

saying “we repaired a hole in the fence behind a woman’s garden after 

she complained children were throwing stones. Residents make their 

own access into the field, we just patch and repair the fences.”. 

The inference, says Mr. Pitts, is that despite the Council’s attempts to keep the 

boundaries in repair, they were continually broken down by force. He could not 

identify the fence referred to in the article. 

 

59. Mr. Pitts also produced photographs taken in 1991 and 1995 which he says 

shows the unauthorised access and the broken down fence. Those two 

photographs are dated 1991 and 1995, and show the Land from the North, New 

Barn Avenue. The 1991 photograph shows panel fencing to the right/East, which 

is still present on site. Beyond it one can see a culverted ditch. To the left/West 

are concrete fence posts and wire mesh fencing. It appears that there is a gap 

Page 42



 29 

between the fence post and the panel of some four feet. It would be possible to 

walk across the head wall of the culvert. The 1995 photograph is taken from the 

West looking East. It is not apparent whether the gap to the boundary seen in 

the 1991 photograph is present; there is no reason to conclude why it should not 

be. He told me that there was no documentation that he had seen that indicated 

that the boundary had ever been completely fenced off. It does however appear 

that the wire mesh fencing has been trampled down. 

 

60. Mr. Pitts said that he has visited the Land on several occasions as part of his 

employment in the last twelve to eighteen months. He has only seen the Land 

being used for dog-walking or as a cut-through from New Barn Close to 

Prestbury Road. 

 

61. Cathy King is a Landscape Officer with the Council. She told me that in about 

the early nineteen nineties, external contractors were asked to make a number 

of generic signs for use on open Council property. These signs were 

approximately One foot by Eighteen inches in size, metal, blue with white 

wording. They read: 

“GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

NO UNAUTHORISED USE 

OF PLAYING FIELD 

EXERCISING OF DOGS 

STRICTLY FORBIDDEN” 

Page 43



 30 

 

62. She recalled that one of these signs was erected in the Nineteen Nineties at 

Prestbury Road. She did not known when it was taken down, but it was no 

longer present on site. She has not been able to find any documentation relating 

to the erection of the sign, but thought any records would have been destroyed. 

She also said that the vehicular gate on to the land from Prestbury Road was 

locked by a security padlock, although she could not say whether there was a 

side pedestrian gate or not. She did not see the sign erected, and the signs were 

a very small aspect of her job. Ms. King said that there would definitely have 

been a sign on the site because it was one of the sites they had the most 

complaints about for dog use and fouling. The procedure was that the schools 

were compelled to buy them, if Mr. Hill thought they needed them, and there 

should be records of the purchase. There is no evidence that Mr. Hill decided 

that the notice was required at Prestbury Road. Those documents are not 

available.  

 

63. Andrew Cornish has been a County Councillor, Borough and Parish Councillor 

from 1979 until 2005. He attended a meeting of residents to discuss a proposal 

to develop the Land in 2002. He spoke to the Parish groundsman, David 

Hitchman, and asked him if the Land was ever used by members of the public 

for recreational use. Mr. Hitchman said ‘Never’. By recreation he was referring to 

sports and games, not to dog walking which he understood did take place on 

Page 44



 31 

the land. He had never seen anyone making use of the Land other than for dog 

walking or as a cut-through. Cllr. Cornish produced a copy of the minute of the 

Parish Council meeting of 13th. August 2002. The minute records the following: 

“General Public 

The vast majority of questions and comments centred around the 

proposed development of the redundant County Sports Field which they 

claim, if lost to residential development, would be a considerable loss to 

the local community..... They also claim the field in question is regularly 

used by the local community...” 

 

64. One oddity was that Cllr. Cornish maintained in evidence that the minute had 

not been written by him. It was an accurate minute. I do not accept that it was 

not his minute, because he signed it as accurate, and because it is written in the 

first person, and Cllr Cornish’s evidence was that it was he who made the 

enquiry of David Hitchman. The tenor of the minute is that it is almost an 

argument piece, written by someone who wishes to play down the validity of 

opposition to development on the Land. It seemed partisan to me. 

 

65. Cllr Cornish told me that dog walking has been a problem on the Land for many 

years back to the 1980s. Dog walkers go all over the field. As soon as they come 

in from Prestbury Road they would let their dog go. At the 2002 Parish meeting 

the public said the pitch was used for football, using coats for goalposts. He had 

seen people try to kick a football on the land.  

 

Page 45



 32 

66. Christine Cox BA MA MIfA is an expert photographic interpreter, with particular 

reference to aerial photographs. She produced an expert report of a number of 

historical photographs of the Land between 1970 and 2004 with a view to 

drawing conclusions as to the historic usage that was being made of the Land 

within that period. Her evidence was produced in a report dated July 2013. 

Summarising the critical features of that report: 

(1) In 1970 there was no evidence of any access into the Land except the access 

from Prestbury Road. There is no evidence of gaps in the boundaries or worn 

areas which would suggest external access from multiple points. There are 

no tracks or marks which indicate that such small worn areas as exist have 

been used habitually for daily walking or regular access. 

(2) In 1983 the Land is substantially laid out as a running oval and for other 

athletic functions. There are no tracks or paths around the Land, or to the 

Parish Council’s playing field. There is a single defined access point to the 

land.  

(3) In 1988 there are two worn tracks visible, one between the Prestbury Road 

entrance and New Barn Avenue and the other between the Prestbury Road 

entrance and the hedge separating the land from the Parish Council playing 

field. These are obvious short cut tracks.  

(4) In 1989 one can see the lines of machine mowing of the grass. The long jump 

pit and goal posts are visible. The only worn path visible is that between the 

Prestbury Road Entrance and New Barn Avenue. Other wear marks indicate 

Page 46



 33 

very occasional use, possibly for the retrieval of balls from the Parish Playing 

field.  

(5) In 1992 the grass is longer, and one can see evidence of ancient usage of the 

Land as a nursery or allotment garden. There are more worn paths visible. 

This would indicate that usage of paths has intensified. The usage of the 

sports pitch appears to have reduced. Ms. Cox comments that the site was 

still in use as a rugby field at this time, “a use which is largely incompatible 

with widespread dog walking activities due to contamination of the surface 

with dog fouling.” I note first that such a proposition assumes that dog 

walkers allow their dogs to foul pitches, which may be the case but is not 

necessarily true; and secondly that such a comment lies outside Ms. Cox’s 

expertise.  

(6) Ms. Cox concludes that photographic analysis between 1970  and 1992 

indicates an ongoing all year round seasonal use for organised sports. That is 

incompatible with dog walking due to the potential for fouling. There are no 

visible signs of casual recreational use of the Land between 1970 and 1989. 

There was no evidence of ‘village green’ use between these dates; and 

‘These uses would show if they were present either current to the time of 

photography or in the intervening period.” Widespread, as opposed to path 

bound use has been confined to that visible in 1992 only.  

 

Page 47



 34 

67. Ms. Cox acknowledged that the inferences that she could draw was limited by 

the limitation of the information that she was working with. Her view was that 

the uses that had to be established in the inquiry were not path type uses. As the 

Land is a well bounded field, if people were using the field she would expect use 

to be concentrated at entrance points and around the perimeter. Ms. Cox was 

confident that had there been considerable dog walking in 1982 the 

consequences of that would have been visible on the photographs. She had 

seen none. Ms. Cox accepted that a particular use of a field may be disguised, 

and that an existing path may disappear in a year. It requires judgment to 

interpret the photographs. Her evidence relates what she sees; and what she 

would expect to see. 

 

68. Mr. Andrew Houldey is the Asset Data Officer within the Highway Records 

Section of the Council. As such he considers application to modify the Definitive 

Map held by the Council under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, and is 

familiar with documentary and photographic evidence used to demonstrate the 

existence of historic land usage. He too had examined the historic aerial 

photographs of the Land. His comments were as follows: 

(1) The 1970 photograph shows the Land in use as football pitches. A margin of 

longer grass suggests there is no entrance to the field from the North. There 

are no worn paths on the Land.  

Page 48



 35 

(2) In 1983 the Land is in use as a playing field. An oval athletics track has been 

marked out. There are pitch markings and wear, but no posts. No tracks are 

visible. There are possible gaps between the Land and the Parish field, which 

Mr. Houldey surmises was for ball retrieval. If there had been use of the site 

on foot, it would have shown up on the photograph.  

(3) The 1983 photograph shows two worn tracks, from Prestbury Road to New 

Barn Close, and from Prestbury Road to the Parish field. The paths are 

direct, and indicate usage as a cut-through and not for recreational use.  

(4) The 1992 photograph shows evidence of more intensive use of the Land. 

There is a network of perimeter paths visible.  

(5) Use declined by 2000, and appears to have been limited to direct access 

route to the Prestbury Road and a direct route from the southern entrance 

to the Parish Playing Field. 

(6) A 2006 photograph shows a clear network of well defined paths, both across 

and around the Land. The pattern of perimeter dog-walking along clearly 

defined paths has resumed.  

 

69. Mr. John Dorer was employed as a valuer by the Council until last June. He was 

involved in the decision to erect barriers to prevent encroachment on to the 

Land from New Barn Close. The barriers did not prevent pedestrian access. Dog 

waste bins were erected on site in 2001. The grass was cut to 8” length, in order 

to dissuade recreational use.  

Page 49



 36 

 

70. Mr. Dorer arranged for the four permissive notices to be erected on the site in 

2003. One as positioned at Prestbury Road, one at New Barn Lane and two at 

gaps in the boundary with the parish field. He told me that the one at Prestbury 

Road was removed, when or by whom he did not known, but the other signs 

remained. He did not recall seeing anyone use the Land otherwise than as a cut-

through or for dog-walking. 

 

71. Ms. Louise Li is a Senior Research Analyst in the Strategic Needs Analysis Team 

of the Council. Her evidence, which was accepted by the applicants, related to 

matters of statistics. The population of the ecclesiastical parish of Prestbury was 

9,797 in 2001, and in 1981 8,85. 

 

Closing Submissions 

72. Mr. Chapman’s principal argument was that whatever usage had taken place on 

the Land, from 2003 when the permissive notices were erected, such usage was 

permissive, and not as of right. There was compelling evidence that these signs 

were erected, and on that basis any reasonable person who read them (and a 

reasonable person would have done so) would have understood that he was 

being given permission to be on the Land.  

 

Page 50



 37 

73. The argument that the applicants could circumvent this fact by relying on 

section 15(7)(b) of the 2006 Act was bound to fail, because that saving provision 

did not apply where the permission was granted before the Commons Act 2006 

came into force in April 2007. That had been authoritatively and recently 

established both by the decision of the Court of Appeal in R v. Secretary of State 

for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs oao Newhaven Port & Properties 

Limited [2013] EWCA Civ 673 and Church Commissioners v. Hampshire CC 

[2013] EWHC 1933 (Admin). 

 

74. If section 15(7)(b) was applicable, nonetheless the Applicants could not show 

sufficient usage for the twenty years period prior to 2003. The photographic 

evidence shows that usage was at best very limited over this period. That 

evidence should be preferred to such oral evidence as was put forward in 

support of the application, where those witnesses were likely to have 

exaggerated, consciously or otherwise, the historic use made of the Land.  

 

75. As a more subsidiary argument, Mr. Chapman relies on the 1982 sign prohibited 

dog walking, which he says I should find was pulled down. 

 

76. The prohibitory sign erected in the early nineteen nineties at Prestbury Road, 

according to the evidence of Cathy King, should be found to have been erected. 

Page 51



 38 

That too will prevent usage being as of right as, being erected by the main 

entrance, it would have come to the attention of most users.  

 

77. Lastly, the attempted erection of fencing at the New Barn Close entrance made 

it plain that this was not an authorised access point. It followed that usage 

thereafter from New Barn Close was contentious, and not as of right. 

 

78. Mr. Stedman Jones started his submissions by making an admission that three 

permissive signs were erected at the perimeter of the Land in 2003. He also 

accepted that the consequence of this was that the usage of the Land by the 

public after the erection of those signs was permissive, and not as of right. He 

therefore acknowledged that for the applicant to succeed, he would have to 

establish twenty years’ use as of right by a significant number of inhabitants of 

the locality before 2003 as a matter of fact; and also a right to rely on such usage 

under section 15(7)(b). 

 

79. Newhaven decides that section 15(7)(b) operates retrospectively where the 

application for registration is made under section 15(2), referring to paragraphs 

[29] and [30] of the judgment of Lewison LJ. 

 

80. The long use of land ought to be protected by a wide interpretation of section 

15(7)(b) – Church Commissioners v. Hampshire County Council at [17] – [18]. 

Page 52



 39 

 

81. It would be absurd for section 15(7)(b) not to have any effect until potentially the 

7th. April 2027, twenty years from the coming into force of the 2006 Act.  

 

82. The evidence demonstrates sufficient recreational use of the Land by a 

significant number of inhabitants of the locality between 1983 and 2003. This is 

established both by the oral evidence, witness statements and the petition 

signed in support of the application. In terms of quantity Mr. Stedman Jones 

relied not only on those who gave evidence, but the fact that they referred to 

usage by others. He submitted that the expert evidence of Ms. Cox and Mr. 

Houldey was sweeping, and generalised. Ms. Cox had admitted the limitations 

of the material that she was working from. She had expressed personal and non-

expert views that were inappropriate for an expert.  

 

83. Mr. Stedman Jones’ contention was that where an applicant applied under 

section 15(2), asserting that use continued up to the date of the application, 

then he could rely on section 15(7)(b) whenever the permission was granted, 

whether before or after the 2006 Act came into force. The position where usage 

had stopped either before or after the application was made, and hence was 

made under section 15(3) or (4) was different.  

 

Analysis 

Page 53



 40 

84. I propose to consider the issues in the following order: 

(1) What permissive or prohibitory notices were erected in respect of 

recreational usage of the Land? 

(2) What was the effect of such notices as are established? 

(3) Do the acts of the Council make recreational usage contentious during the 

relevant period? 

(4) If proof of usage ‘as of right’ is prevented only by the grant of permission in 

2003, may the applicant rely on section 15(7)(b) of the Commons Act 2006 to 

overcome that problem? 

(5) If so, has the applicant established that lawful sports and pastimes have 

been carried out by a significant number of the inhabitants of the 

ecclesiastical parish of Prestbury (a) between 1990 and 2010 and (b) 

between 1983 and 2003? 

 

85. It should be born in mind and remembered that it is necessary for the applicant 

to prove each and every element of the statutory test. The burden lies on the 

applicant to prove each of those matters. If he fails to do so, then the application 

must fail. 

 

86. I have had the opportunity of considering the evidence of a large number of 

witnesses who gave evidence before me. My general view is that none of the 

witnesses who gave evidence before me were seeking to do anything than to 

Page 54



 41 

give me their genuine view of matters which they were seeking to recall as best 

they can. But even so, there are two specific matters of criticism. The first is that 

a large number of the applicants’ witnesses signed supplemental statements 

which asserted their knowledge of the permissive signs in 2003. However, when 

they came to give evidence they, in many cases, asserted that they had no 

knowledge of such notices. I have considered whether these witnesses had 

collectively decided to change their evidence because they perceived the terms 

of the supplemental statement to be disadvantageous to them. However on 

reflection that seems to me to be unlikely. There was evidence that the draft 

statement was taken to witnesses as a round robin, and I think it likely that the 

supplemental statement was, rather unwisely, signed by those witnesses 

without any real consideration of its terms. That was at best a plain error, and to 

an extent must necessarily affect the credibility of those witnesses. 

 

87. The second point which I have already mentioned above is that Councillor 

Cornish denied producing his minute of the meeting of 13th. August 2002. In my 

view he was wrong to do so, and I conclude that he probably chose to do so 

because the minute was phrased in partisan terms. Be that as it may, 

considering Councillor Cornish’s evidence as a whole I do not think that he has 

sought to give evidence as to relevant matters of fact that he did not believe to 

be true. 

 

Page 55



 42 

What permissive or prohibitory notices were erected in respect of 

recreational usage of the Land? 

88. The Council relies on three notices. A prohibition on dog walking referred to in a 

1982 school minute; a prohibitory notice referred to by Ms. Cathy King in the 

early 1990s; and the 2003 permissive notices. 

 

89. The only evidence of the 1982 notice is to be found in an historic minute of 22nd. 

June 1982. There is no other evidence of its existence, location or terms. I 

understand that other minutes have been scrutinised. Because the entry in the 

minutes is under the ‘Matters arising’ heading, it should follow that the issue 

would have been considered in earlier minutes. However I have been told that 

there was no such minute. Despite there being evidence of recreational use 

from witnesses pre-dating 1982, none of those witnesses had any recollection of 

such a notice. I conclude on the balance of probability that, whether or not a 

notice was erected, that notice was not sufficient to render usage of the Land by 

or with dogs, contentious. 

 

90. The minute does provide support for the contention that in the early 1980s the 

Land was suffering adverse consequences from dog exercising. In this regard 

the evidence of Councillor’s that they were spoken to by their constituents 

about the availability of the Land for public use is some indication that if a 

contentious notice prohibiting the use of the Land for dog walking had been 

Page 56



 43 

erected, that complaints would have been made by those affected to their 

councillor; but complaint there was none. The fact however that there was 

fouling does not prove general or significant use; one dog repeatedly fouling 

might produce this outcome. 

 

91. Turning to the 1990 notice, we have a copy produced, and if there were good 

evidence that it was brought to the attention of users of the Land it seems to me 

that it would make recreational use of the Land that as not permissive, 

contentious. The real issue is whether the notice was erected or not.  

 

92. Again, there is no other evidence that such a notice was erected. More than 

that, none of those who used the Land could remember such a notice. There is 

no documentary evidence to confirm that such a notice was produced for the 

Land. This part of the case turns solely on Ms. King’s evidence and recollection. 

In my view her recollection of the erection of such a sign on the Prestbury Road 

entrance to the Land was not compelling, and I would prefer the evidence of 

those who did not recall such a notice.  

 

93. As I have noted above, the existence of the 2003 notices are admitted by the 

Applicants. I agree with that concession. I find that four permissive notices were 

erected on the boundary of the Land in 2003. In this regard I accept the evidence 

Page 57



 44 

of Mr. Dorer and Mr. Williams, both of whom struck me as sensible and accurate 

witnesses.  

 

What was the effect of such notices as are established? 

94. The terms of those notices were such that it would have been evident to any 

reasonable person who stopped to read them that they were being given 

permission to enter the Land and carry on lawful sports and pastimes there. 

They accepted that license by entering on to, and using the Land thereafter. It is 

immaterial that, had they appreciated the effect of the permission, they might 

have refused to accept that permission. It follows that the use of the Land by the 

public thereafter would be pursuant to an implied license or permission, and 

would not be ‘as of right’.  

 

Do the acts of the Council make recreational usage contentious during the 

relevant period? 

95. The acts relied upon by the Council are here the erection of post and wire mesh 

fencing; the erection of Armco barriers; and such other steps as they might have 

taken, as referred to in the copy of the Gloucestershire Echo dated 26th. May 

1994.  

 

96. Dealing first with the Armco barrier, in my view that does not either on its own 

or together with any other restriction make the use of the Land contentious. 

Page 58



 45 

The use of the Land that is said to form the basis of the claim to registration of 

the land as a town or village green is pedestrian use. The Armco (which remains 

in existence) appears to be designed to prevent vehicular access to the Land. It 

does not debar, nor indicate that it is intended to debar or prevent, pedestrian 

or canine access.  

 

97. I turn next to the post and wire mesh fence. As I have indicated above, there 

appears to have remained a gap between the post and the wooden fence. It may 

have been that the gap was left in order to allow access to the culvert that was 

adjacent. But as a matter of fact it permitted sufficient width to enable a person 

to walk fairly easily through the gap. I note what was said in the Echo article 

about the difficulties that residents had in crossing the gap, but from my 

examination of it, it seems to me to be of a reasonable size, If the Council 

wished to unequivocally restrict access, then it should have fenced off the entire 

access way, or else make it plain that access to the Land at that point was 

forbidden. This it did not do. I conclude therefore that usage through that gap 

was not contentious. 

 

If proof of usage ‘as of right’ is prevented only by the grant of permission in 

2003, may the applicant rely on section 15(7)(b) of the Commons Act 2006 to 

overcome that problem? 

Page 59



 46 

98. I shall start by repeating the competing contentions. Mr. Stedman Jones asserts 

that section 15(7)(b) applies to an application made under section 15(2) 

whenever the permission was granted, whether before or after the 

commencement of the Act. Mr. Chapman argues that section 15(7)(b) does not 

apply where the permission was granted before the Act came into force. 

 

99. The relevant statutory provisions are as follows: 

“(2)This subsection applies where— 

(a)a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 

neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful 

sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; and 

(b)they continue to do so at the time of the application. 

.......” 

“(7)For the purposes of subsection (2)(b) in a case where the condition in 

subsection (2)(a) is satisfied— 

..... 

(b)where permission is granted in respect of use of the land for the 

purposes of lawful sports and pastimes, the permission is to be 

disregarded in determining whether persons continue to indulge in 

lawful sports and pastimes on the land “as of right”.” 

 

100. It seems to me that on the plain wording of these provisions, the applicants’ 

construction is to be preferred. If (as here) the applicant applies under section 

15(2), then if and only if he is precluded from success by virtue of the fact that he 

was at some time granted permission by the landowner, but can none the less 

Page 60



 47 

demonstrate that a period of twenty years’ usage as of right prior to that grant 

exists, then he will satisfy section 15(7)(b). The Council’s case requires one to 

add to the section the words ‘after the commencement of this Act’ after the 

words ‘Where permission is granted’. Mr. Chapman’s argument requires those 

words to be implied. 

 

101. It is I think of note that the entitlement to disregard a permission arises where 

the claim is made under section 15(2), but not section 15(3). There, the user as of 

right continues up until a date after the commencement of the Act, but not 

more than two years prior to the application. If the reason for such as cessation 

of use ‘as of right’ was the granting of permission, then the applicant could 

proceed under section 15(2), and rely on section 15(7)(b) to satisfy the 

requirement of section 15(2)(b). Section 15(3) therefore applies where there is 

some other reason for the cessation of user as of right; either the right itself has 

stopped, or possibly it has become contentious. Lewison LJ considered this at 

paragraph [30] of Newhaven, where he said: 

“Since section 15(3) only applies if the use continues after the 

commencement of the section, there was no need to provide for section 

15(7) to apply to section 15(3)(b), since the use as of right would be 

deemed to be continuing (and hence not to have ceased) as a result of 

section 15(2)(b).”  

 

Page 61



 48 

102. It seems to me that what the learned Lord Justice means here is that if the 

reason for cessation of use as of right is the grant of permission, then (as long as 

one can show 20 years’ use as of right) the applicant can get home under section 

15(2). Hence there was no need to make section 15(7)(b) apply to an application 

under section 15(3). As I have noted, that analysis does not work where a 

permission is granted and subsequently there is a cessation of use ‘as of right’ by 

other means. In those circumstances the applicant has to rely on section 15(3), 

and would not be able to rely on section 15(7)(b). 

 

103. Lewison LJ’s consideration of the position that arises in respect of an 

application under section 15(4) (at para. [31]) is rather more helpful to Mr. 

Chapman. The learned Lord Justice says: 

“31.....As noted, use will cease to be as of right if it is forceful or 

permissive. But section 15(7) applies only for the purposes of section 

15(2)(b). It does not apply to section 15(4). If therefore a landowner 

granted permission for use to continue after the expiry of the twenty year 

period, but before the commencement of the section, then the use will have 

ceased to be use as of right for the purposes of section 15(4). This is more 

favourable to the landowner than the situation of the landowner under 

section 15(2) or 15(3).”(my emphasis) 

 

104. The italicised passage assumes that in these circumstances (permission before 

commencement of statute; use otherwise continuing afterwards) the 

application must be made under section 15(4), if at all. If that is right, then it 

Page 62



 49 

must follow that an application in those circumstances made under section 15(2) 

will not succeed because the applicant may not rely on section 15(7) to satisfy 

section 15(2). That permission granted pre-commencement of the Act is not to 

be equated with permission granted after commencement of the Act is a point 

also made by Lewison LJ at [68].  

 

105. Gloster and Lloyd LJJ agreed with the judgment of Lewison LJ. His views, 

expressing the opinion of a unanmous Court of Appeal, should be accorded 

considerable weight, even if (as I think) they were not part of the ratio decidendi2 

of the case.  

 

106. Mr. Chapman also referred to the comment of Collins J at paragraph [18] of 

Church Commissioners v. Hampshire County Council where his Lordship said: 

“There was, he said, a distinction to be drawn in relation to pre-Act 

cessation since that included cessation due to permission, whereas if 

section 15(2) applied, permission did not result in cessation: see section 

15(7). That was the purpose behind the 5 year period in section 15(4), to 

give the opportunity for an application to be made when it might not 

have been appreciated that use as of right had come to an end.”  

 

107. I do not think that this passage is directly relevant, because it appears to be not 

the Judge’s view, but a statement of ministerial intention. Such statements may 

                                                 
2
 Binding basis of the judgment. 

Page 63



 50 

be of assistance in construing an ambiguous piece of legislation to which it 

refers, but is of limited assistance. 

 

108. Mr. Stedman Jones referred me to the judgment of the Court of Appeal in 

Leeds Group v. Leeds City Council [2011] EWCA Civ. 1447 as offering support for 

the proposition that the 2000 Amendment to the 965 Commons Registration 

Act had retrospective effect. I do not think that that would be the point of the 

case. The argument on appeal was that in order to succeed in an application 

relying on the new statutory definition, the applicant had to show that that 

definition had been satisfied for a full period of twenty years after the coming 

into force of the Act. To put it another way, no such application could succeed 

until 2020 at the earliest. As the Court of Appeal said, to consider that this was 

Parliament’s intention was absurd (Sullivan LJ at [12]). But that position is not 

analogous to the present. Here the point is not whether the applicant can show 

twenty years usage; but whether the landowner should be allowed to rely on 

pre-Act permission or not. There is nothing absurd as a matter of statutory 

construction in concluding that he should. There is some practical force in Mr. 

Chapman’s argument that landowners who thought they were off the hook by 

granting a pre-Act permission would, perhaps unfairly, find themselves back on 

it if the applicant could in those circumstances rely on section 15(7) to avoid it. 

But the answer might be that the landowner should have locked the gates as 

well.  

Page 64



 51 

 

109. Lastly, Mr. Chapman has referred me to the Guidance to Commons 

Registration Authorities and the Planning Inspectorate (DEFRA) para. 8.10.72. It 

supports Mr. Chapman’s view, but the view of DEFRA as to the meaning of its 

legislation is not binding. 

 

110. My conclusion on this part of the application is that the Council’s contention is 

correct. Where permission is granted before the commencement of the Act, an 

application for registration can only be made under section 15(4) and hence the 

applicants may not rely on section 15(7) to circumvent the permissive notices 

erected in 2003. 

 

If so, have the applicants established that lawful sports and pastimes have 

been carried out by a significant number of the inhabitants of the 

ecclesiastical parish of Prestbury (a) between 1990 and 2010 and (b) between 

1983 and 2003? 

111. In R v. Staffordshire County Council ex p. Alfred McAlpine Homes [2002] EWHC 

76 at [71] Sullivan J.3 said that it would be inappropriate to define what was 

meant by a ‘significant’ number of inhabitants. That was an ordinary English 

word that bore its ordinary English meaning. He did however say that: 

“It is necessary to ask the question – significant for what purpose? In my 

judgment the correct answer is provided by Mr. Mynors...., when he 
                                                 
3
 As he then was 

Page 65



 52 

submits that what matters is that the number of people using the land in 

question has to be sufficient to indicate that their use of the land 

signifies that it is in general use by the local community for informal 

recreation, rather than occasional use by individuals as trespassers.” 

 

112. Sullivan J. also made it plain that the Registration Authority can have regard, 

not simply to what the witnesses themselves have done, but also what they 

have seen take place, and also that which might be properly inferred from the 

surrounding circumstances.  

 

113. The locality in this case is the ecclesiastical parish of Prestbury. The usage that 

can be relied upon is any lawful sports and pastimes. That may be any informal 

recreation, and is typically dog walking, informal recreation walking and the 

unstructured play of children. To the extent that the Land has been used as a 

thoroughfare, in particular between New Barn Avenue and Prestbury Road, and 

to a lesser extent between Prestbury Road and the Parish recreation field, then 

unless that activity is overtly recreational it should be disregarded. 

 

114. It seems to me that the physical characteristics of the Land were such as to 

make it attractive for informal recreation, in that it does not appear to have 

been as neat or as manicured as the Parish field adjoining. On the other hand 

the Parish field was an obvious and available sports field for recreation.  

 

Page 66



 53 

115. The evidence of the applicants’ witnesses gives the impression of significant 

use of the land for recreational purposes by themselves, their friends and family 

going back as far as the nineteen seventies. Although dog-walking was 

frequently referred to, there was evidence of playing with children and family; 

keeping fit and carrying out sports. That is to an extent supported by the 1982 

school minute relating to dog fouling. Although I did not hear from all of them, 

there were 43 witnesses who asserted recreational use extending at least as far 

back as 1983, and a further 30 who gave evidence as to usage after that date, in 

many cases going back to the early nineteen nineties. However, I do not have 

any documentary evidence of such usage that I can rely on; I am left with the 

witnesses recollections. I do bear in mind that many of them have in effect seen 

what they wanted to see, which they have demonstrated by not having any 

recollection of signage that has been present since 2003. The credibility of some 

has been damaged by their signing of supplemental witness statements that 

they either did not read or did not understand.  

 

116. As against their evidence, I have the plain evidence of Mr. Houldey and more 

particularly Ms. Cox to the lack of any real physical evidence on the land to 

demonstrate any appreciable amount of use certainly before 1992. I was 

particularly impressed overall by Ms. Cox’s expertise. She was criticised by Mr. 

Stedman Jones for her unwillingness to consider any alternative explanation for 

the absence of such indications. I do not think that Ms. Cox or Mr.Houlder gave 

Page 67



 54 

their evidence in such a fashion. There was in my view a good evidential basis for 

the view that Ms. Cox expressed within the limitation of the raw material that 

she was interpreting. It is the job of an expert to use her expertise to give an 

opinion on the matters in issue. I conclude that Ms. Cox did that, and that her 

evidence is evidence on which I can rely.  

 

117. In the circumstances I must consider the entirety of the evidence as a whole. 

My conclusion is that Ms. Cox’s evidence is inconsistent with the generality of 

the evidence of recreational usage put forward by the Applicants’ witnesses. I do 

not think that the picture painted of the quantity of use by the Applicants’ 

witnesses is consistent with the expert analysis that Ms. Cox has carried out, in 

particular in respect of the photographs dated 1983, 1988,1989 and 1992. I 

conclude that it is likely that the Applicants’ witnesses have unconsciously 

exaggerated the frequency and extent of their use of the Land, and that the 

usage of the Land during the years when it was being used as a school sports 

field was substantially less than it became in later years, and more particularly 

still when rugby ceased to be played on the land in 2013.  

 

118. In my view the Applicants have not proven that the Land was used by a 

significant number of the inhabitants of Prestbury ecclesiastical parish (as 

opposed to demonstrating intermittent trespass) between 1983 and 1989. It 

follows that even if the Applicants were entitled to rely on section 15(7) 

Page 68



 55 

Commons Act 2006, they have not established the factual background that 

would enable them to do so. 

 

Conclusion and Recommendation 

119. I advise the Authority that the application be rejected. The basis of this 

decision is that the Applicants have failed to establish the relevant twenty year 

period of use as of right. 

 

120. Lastly, can I note my thanks to those members of the Authority who ensured 

that the Inquiry proceeded as smoothly and efficiently as it did.  

 

121. If the Registration Authority has any questions arising out of this Advice, please 

do not hesitate to contact me. 

 

 

 

Leslie Blohm QC      15th. November 2013 

St. John’s Chambers, 

101 Victoria Street, 

Bristol, 

BS1 6PU/ 

Page 69



Page 70

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	4 Application for the registration of an area of land known as the Recreation Ground, Prestbury Road, as a town or village green
	agenda item 4 A
	agenda item 4 B


